# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-KA-0/415-COA

FILED

JAISON HARNESS

APR 2 3 2008

**APPELLANT** 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT VERSITS APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 1ST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF ON THE MERITS BY APPELLANT

Appellant Will Seek Oral Argument

OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC DEFENDER, HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

William R. LaBarre,

PUBLIC DEFENDER

Virginia L. Watkins,

Assistant Public Defender

Post Office Box 23029

Jackson, Mississippi 39225

Facsimile:

Telephone: 601-948-2683 601-948-2687

### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The trial court erred when it admitted the testimony of Joseph Cotten as an accident reconstructionist because Cotten failed to qualify as an expert under MISSISSIPPI RULE OF EVIDENCE 702; thus, the substantial right of Mr. Harness to a fundamentally fair trial was fatally compromised;
- II. The trial court abused its discretion when it admitted into evidence a diagram by Joseph Cotten as it was an incorrect and incomplete depiction of the accident scene, irrelevant, confusing to the jury and prejudicial to a fair hearing of the cause against Mr. Harness;
- III. The trial court erred in denial of the *Motion to Dismiss* and *Motion to Suppress* due to the destruction of blood drawn from Mr. Harness; destruction of this crucial evidence deprived him of his fundamental rights to due process of law and to confront evidence mounted against him under AMENDS. V, VI, XIV, U.S. CONST. and ART. III, §§ 14, 26, MISS. CONST;
- IV. The State failed to establish an adequate evidentiary foundation to admit evidence of a blood sample allegedly drawn from Mr. Harness. The trial court further erred when it held MISS.R.EVID. 803.5 applied to permit presentation of otherwise inadmissible evidence to the jury, and
  - V. The trial court violated the fundamental right of Mr. Harness to mount a defense when it denied admission of the release and settlement he received from Hampton's insurer and evidence of a complaint filed against him alleging the negligence of a second, unknown individual.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Course of Proceedings Below

Jaison Harness was indicted for negligently driving under the influence of intoxicating substances (Miss. Code Ann. 63-11-30(5) (1972)) resulting in the death of Clyde Hampton under Cause Number 04-0-335 by a grand jury of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi. CP 5. Mr. Harness stood trial May 1, 2007 and was found guilty on May 3, 2007. CP 57; 58; T. 688; RE 18; 32. The trial court sentenced Mr. Harness to imprisonment for twenty-five (25) years, with ten (10) years suspended and five (5) years probation on to be served all in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. CP 60; 61; T. 730-731; RE 19; 20; 33-34.

Mr. Harness pursued all post-trial avenues open to him and all were denied. CP 67; RE 21. Mr. Harness then sought timely appeal of his conviction, now before this honorable Court. CP 70.

#### B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The morning of August 22, 2003, Jaison Harness called his mother, Juanita Harness, for a routine "swap;" his pick-up truck for the 1975 blue Mercury Marquis his father had purchased when Mr. Harness was in elementary school. T. 616; 621. Mr. Harness, a truck driver, drove over to the home of this mother at 1646 Cox Street and remained there the rest of the day and into the early evening, performing basic maintenance on the vehicle, leaving only to purchase car parts or visit with friends living on the street. T. 592; 593; 616-617; 620; 622.

Sometime after dark, having worked on the car, washed it and put away all his tools, Harness left the home of his mother, near the intersection of Valley Street and U.S. Highway 80, and headed to his apartment at Windsor Park Apartments. T. 593; 610-611. Mr. Harness remembers he pulled into a church parking lot for a time, then went down Westhaven Boulevard toward the intersection with Clinton Boulevard when he saw the nieces of his girlfriend and thought he would turn back around to see them. T 594.

Mr. Harness testified that was the last thing he remembered before awakening at Central Mississippi Medical Center (CMMC) with an oxygen mask on his face, neck brace about his neck, tubes in his arm and his left leg hanging off a stretcher. T. 595. His teeth were knocked out and his chest was torn open from impact with the steering wheel; he had gashes on his face and elbow and CMMC was stabilizing him for transfer to the University of Mississippi Medical Center (UMMC), which ultimately put two metal screws and a metal rod in the leg broken in three places. T. 595-597. Juanita Harness, his mother, testified she was told by Officer Natyyo Gray calling her home that first responders were trying to cut Mr. Harness from the car. T. 625. When she arrived at the CMMC emergency room, she recalled for the jury summoning a nurse because it appeared Mr. Harness was swallowing blood and broken teeth and one of his physicians said her son would be transferred to the University hospital because CMMC lacked the facilities to handle his internal bleeding. T. 625;626.

After Mr. Harness passed his girlfriend's nieces on Westhaven that fateful evening, he also passed Bobbie Moore, an Olive Garden restaurant hostess on her

way home from work. Moore testified she had to brake and veer off the road by the front passenger tire onto the narrow shoulder of Westhaven because the blue Mercury drifted across the center line into her lane. T. 333; 334. Moore testified she got her car back on the road and glanced back in her rear view mirror and saw the Mercury collide with a white pick-up about six car lengths behind her. T. 334. Moore could not and did not identify the occupants of either vehicle; she remembered only the blue car headed north toward Clinton Boulevard and the pick-up she first noticed at the Westhaven- Clinton boulevard stoplight. T. 328; 333.

The white 1992 GMC pick-up was driven by Clyde Hampton, 52, who was en route to pick up his grandson for the night. T. 317-318; 337.

Thelma Hampton testified she fell asleep after husband left, until their grandson called about midnight, concerned because Hampton never arrived. T. 321-322. Mrs. Hampton went looking for her husband; after a fruitless search, she began calling area hospitals and located him at Mississippi Baptist Medical Center (MBMC). T. 322. She arrived at MBMC shortly after 1 A.M.; her husband died shortly after daybreak. T. 322. Dr. Steven Hayne testified that an autopsy showed Hampton died of craniocerebral trauma and massive internal bleeding. T. 523. An individual of Hampton's size, 240 lbs, has about eight quarts of liquid in their bodies; Hayne testified he found nearly four quarts of blood in Hampton's chest and abdominal cavity. T. 517. Although Mrs. Hampton testified her husband only drank an occasional beer, at least one report refers to empty beer cans spilling from Hampton's driver side door at the scene. T. 321; 383.

Officer Natyyo Gray was dispatched to the scene about 11:30 P.M. where he testified he found Mr. Harness standing next to his vehicle, a statement in substantial conflict with testimony that Gray reported to family members Mr. Harness had to be cut from his vehicle and sustained severe injuries. T. 366; 369; 625. Upon arrival at the scene, Gray testified that Hampton did not respond, so the officer assumed Hampton was deceased; Gray identified him only through the contents of wallet after emergency personnel removed him from the truck. T. 369; 371. On the other hand, Gray testified that Mr. Harness was "cognitive, mobile" and laid his driver's license on the trunk for Gray's review; Gray testified that Mr. Harness said he had been drinking but was not drunk. T. 372; 381; 383. Gray further testified that Mr. Harness had no blood on him and showed no abrasions and only later complained of pain. T. 375; 380. Once Mr. Harness claimed to be in pain, Gray told the jury under cross-examination that he did not do a field sobriety test after talking with lead investigator, Officer Joseph Cotten, "to avoid having that work against us." T. 384; 483. Cotten, however, testified he did not discuss field sobriety tests at all with Gray. T. 483.

Officer Cotten was summoned to the scene as both lead investigator and accident reconstructionist, although at the time he had attended only two of the three, two-week sessions necessary to sit for the state accident reconstructionist examination. T. 395; 396; 398. The case of the Westhaven Boulevard collision was his second accident. T. 393; 395; 404. Both drivers were removed by the time Cotten arrived, about midnight. T. 405; 409; 469. After speaking briefly with Gray and marking tires and other areas in the roadway with paint, Cotten said he went first

to MBMC to check on Hampton. T. 443. Hampton was unconscious, but smelled of alcohol, so Cotten said he filled out a blood draw form and provided a blood specimen kit for a MBMC nurse to draw blood, which he then sealed and placed in an evidence bag. T. 444. The evidence was later taken to the Mississippi State Crime Laboratory for analysis. T. 445.

After checking on Hampton, Cotten went to CMMC to determine the condition of Mr. Harness. T. 445. Cotten testified he smelled alcohol on the person of Mr. Harness so filled out a similar form to have blood drawn. T. 446. Mr. Harness was in a trauma room of the emergency room and was semi-conscious, not the "cognitive, mobile" individual Gray testified to have seen after the wreck. The head of Mr. Harness was bandaged, he had a neck brace on and he was hooked up to various monitors, Cotten testified. T. 471.

While Gray identified at trial Nurse Noreen Kenny as the one who drew blood from Mr. Harness, Kenny repeatedly testified she had no recollection whatsoever of signing the blood specimen kit or a form certifying she drew blood from Mr. Harness or anything regarding Mr. Harness and his stay at CMMC. T. 358; 359; 360; 363; 364; 559; 560.

As with the blood sample of Hampton, the state crime lab received a blood sample purporting to be from Mr. Harness on October 7, 2003. T. 563. John Stevenson, a forensic scientist with the crime laboratory, testified he first tested the blood of Mr. Harness on October 16, 2003 in two separate analyses to ensure accuracy, but the results were outside the laboratory's standard error margin. T. 571. A second test October 23, 2003 showed that blood purporting to be from Mr.

Harness yielded results within the acceptable ranges and a report showing .11 grams of ethyl alcohol in the tested blood sample was sent October 24, 2003 to the Hinds County District Attorney's Office. T. 109; 121; 567. Stevenson testified that a third test was not conducted on Mr. Harness's blood. T. 572. Hampton's blood alcohol level test showed .3 grams of ethyl alcohol from blood sample recovered from MBMC. T. 570.

The October 24, 2003 report to the Hinds County District Attorney's office contained a notation of the Crime Laboratory's policy to destroy all samples within six months of the test date unless otherwise notified. T. 110. At a pre-trial hearing on a *Motion to Suppress* blood evidence filed by Mr. Harness, Stevenson said any requests to retain samples must come through the submitting entity; in this case, the Hinds County District Attorney's Office. T. 128-129. The lab failed to destroy the blood sample within six months as stated in its report, but destroyed it on October 7, 2004 – one week after counsel for Mr. Harness filed a *Motion to Compel* production of Mr. Harness's blood sample for independent testing. T. 111. CP 10-11.

Mr. Harness spent from August 22 to September 19, 2003 in the hospital and was still unable to walk when discharged. T. 597. Mr. Harness did not begin walking again until November 2003; he was still on crutches in early 2004 when Officer Cotten came to see him. T. 599. Cotten had the Mississippi Crime Laboratory blood analysis during this visit; Mr. Harness disputed that and emphasized the only alcohol found in his car was an unopened bottle of brandy. T. 600.

In July 2004, Mr. Harness met with representatives of Hampton's insurance company, who paid Mr. Harness \$50,000 in exchange for a release of all claims against the estate of Hampton. T. 603; RE 38. Mr. Harness testified company officials felt Hampton was at fault in the accident. The trial court refused to permit the jury to hear that evidence, which counsel for Mr. Harness preserved for this review in a proffer. T.603; 638, Exhibits 37, 38 for Identification. The trial court denied Mr. Harness the right to present this evidence to the jury. T. 640-641. The trial court also refused to permit the jury to hear that Mrs. Hampton hired a lawyer to sue Mr. Harness for events in connection with the death of her husband and that the complaint named a second, unknown individual who may also have been negligent. T. 587; RE 37.

Mr. Harness steadfastly maintained he was not drinking when the accident occurred and that he had no memory of the accident itself due to the severe injuries he sustained. T. 595; 600.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Harness would respectfully argue that the trial court fatally erred when it admitted into evidence the testimony of Joseph Cotten for the officer was only in the midst of training as an accident reconstructionist at the time of the accident and not yet certified as an expert in any way. Therefore Mr. Harness submits Officer Cotten failed meet the standards of MISS.R.EVID. 702. The conclusions of Officer Cotten were extremely prejudicial in that the officer concluded Mr. Harness was at fault in the collision.

In addition, the trial abused its discretion when it permitted into evidence a diagram by Cotten, admittedly not to scale and inaccurate. Numerous pictures were available to give meaning to the measurements made by Cotton; the diagram was irrelevant and confusing due to its admitted inaccuracy and coupled with other errors, prejudicial to the fundamental right of Mr. Harness to a fair trial.

Evidence regarding the blood alcohol content determined from blood allegedly drawn from Mr. Harness in the early morning hours of August 23, 2003 should not have been admitted. Indeed, Mr. Harness contends the cause should have been dismissed due to destruction of the sample in October 2004, after he sought its production for independent testing. The blood sample was critical to establish that Mr. Harness was intoxicated, a necessary element. Second, the state was never able to lay a sufficient evidentiary foundation for the matter, as the nurse who allegedly drew the blood testified repeatedly she had no recollection of the incident whatsoever.

## ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred when it admitted the testimony of Joseph Cotten as an accident reconstructionist because Cotten failed to qualify as an expert under MISSISSIPPI RULE OF EVIDENCE 702; thus, the substantial right of Mr. Harness to a fundamentally fair trial was fatally compromised;

In permitting Joseph Cotten to testify as an expert accident reconstructionist, the trial court abused its discretion to the fatal prejudice of Mr. Harness because the record plainly shows that not only was Officer Cotten *not* certified in August 2003, he also had yet to take the third and final level of training involving application of scientific calculations of mass, speed and friction necessary to investigate this accident. T. 11; 12; 18; 96-97; 400-401;404; RE 22-23; 26.

The Westhaven Boulevard collision of August 22, 2003 was only the second accident Officer Cotten worked; the case at bar presented the first time he sought qualification as an expert accident reconstructionist. T. 36; 393.

Officer Cotten possessed ten years of experience as a police officer and less than one month in the accident reconstructon division. T. 393. He had an associate's degree and some university courses, all in criminal justice, no mathematics, science, physics or engineering. T. 398-399; 400. Officer Cotten's certification, which he received after sitting for a state examination in January 2004, came after receiving instruction from only one individual, Brady McMillin of the Mississippi Department of Public Safety. T. 42; 398. Officer Cotten receives no continuing education in this field, subscribes to no professional publications or online services and is not a member of any national accident reconstruction

organization. T.402; 404. Officer Cotten's only professional membership is with the Mississippi Accident Reconstruction Society, the purpose of which is solely to provide a directory and access for and among other accident reconstructionists. T. 403.

Mr. Harness recognizes the acceptance of accident reconstruction as a field of expertise, as in Hollingsworth v. Bovaird, 465 So.2d 311 (Miss. 1985). Mr. Harness also acknowledges that Mississippi courts recognize that training and experience can render a police officer an expert in accident reconstruction, as in Miller by Miller v. Stiglet, Inc., 523 So. 2d 55, 57 (Miss. 1988), qualified under the former version of MISSISSIPPI RULE OF EVIDENCE (Miss.R.Evid) 702. In *Miller by Miller v.* Stiglet, the Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed the admission of testimony by two police officers who were qualified to give expert opinion on the causes of a tragic accident in which a car with three children plunged from a bridge into the Escatawpa River, drowning the three youngsters. At trial, the contractor, Stiglet, responsible for bridge maintenance, presented two law enforcement officers as experts to testify as to the cause of the accident. In affirming the admission into evidence of testimony by the two officers, Justice Prather noted the experience of the two officers. One had spent twelve of fourteen years working accidents and had graduated from several different traffic schools, including the Northwest Traffic Institute Accident Investigation School. The other officer, with the Mississippi Highway Safety Patrol, had thirty years experience, had attended several different traffic schools and had investigated causation in more than one thousand cases during his career. Id., at 58.

Since the Court's decision in these two cases, however, Mississippi has adopted a more stringent standard for evaluating whether or not one can be qualified as an expert to testify in state courts.

In Mississippi Transportation Comm. v. McLemore, 863 So.2d 31 (Miss. 2003), the Mississippi Supreme Court adopted the so-called *Daubert* test; in McLemore, as in the revised rule 702, the emphasis is on relevance and reliability. Id., at 36. The trial court assumes a more activist role under MISS.R.EVID. 702. "gatekeeping responsibilities" that require a trial court to make preliminary assessments "of whether the reasoning or methodology is scientifically valid and of whether that reasoning and methodology properly can be applied to the facts in issue." Id., at 36 quoting Daubert v. Merrell-Dow Pharmaceuticals Inc., 509 U.S. 579, at 592-593 (1993). The Court goes on to say "[t]he party offering the expert's testimony must show that the expert has based his testimony on the methods and procedures of science, not merely his subjective beliefs or unsupported speculation." Id. (emphasis added). The Mississippi Supreme Court sternly notes, "neither Daubert nor the Federal Rules of Evidence requires that a court "admit opinion evidence that is connected to existing data only by the *ipse dixit* of the expert," as self-proclaimed accuracy by an expert is an insufficient measure of reliability." McLemore, at 37, quoting Kumho Tire Co., Ltd. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S.136, at 157, (1999) (quoting Gen. Elec. Co. v. Joiner, 522 U.S. 136 (1997) [emphasis added]

Perhaps more important in this case is that our Supreme Court in *McLemore* noted "there is universal agreement that the *Daubert* test has effectively tightened, not loosened, the allowance of expert testimony. *McLemore*, at 38 (citing *Hammond*)

v. Coleman Co., 61 F.Supp.2d 533, 537 (S.D. Miss. 1999), aff'd mem. 209 F.3d 718 (5th Cir. 2000). In McLemore, the state Supreme Court applied the new Daubert test and ruled the trial court abused its discretion when it recognized an appraiser as an expert. Further, the Court held it was error to admit the appraiser's testimony that certain pieces of property were more adversely affected and thus less valuable because such testimony entirely speculative and therefore, inadmissible.

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