### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JAISON O. HARNESS

**APPELLANT** 

VS.



NO. 2007-KA-1415-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly ruled that Officer Cotten was qualified to testify as an expert in the area of accident reconstruction. Cotten received all necessary training and had reconstructed 72 accidents by the time he testified as an expert at trial. His testimony was both relevant and reliable. Also, the trial court properly admitted a diagram which Cotten sketched of the scene of the accident into evidence, as the diagram clarified and supplemented his testimony.

The trial court properly denied Harness's motion to suppress evidence of his blood-alcohol content. After analyzing Harness's blood, the crime lab ultimately destroyed the sample as a matter of routine practice. There was absolutely nothing exculpatory about the sample, as four aliquots of the sample showed that Harness's BAC was over the legal limit at the time of the accident. Additionally, the sample was not destroyed in bad faith. The trial court also properly rejected Harness's contention that the blood evidence should be excluded because the nurse who drew it did not specifically recall doing so. The nurses testified that it was her signature which appeared on the blood sample request form, which indicated to her that she did in fact draw Harness's blood at the request of Officer Cotten. Further, Officer Cotten testified that he was present when the nurse drew Harness's blood.

Finally, the trial court properly excluded irrelevant evidence pertaining to Mrs. Hampton's wrongful death claim against Harness, as well as evidence of a settlement offer between Harness and the victim's insurance company.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. THE STATE'S ACCIDENT RECONSTRUCTIONIST WAS PROPERLY QUALIFIED TO TESTIFY AS AN EXPERT.

The trial court conducted a pretrial MRE 702/Daubert hearing, which concluded with the trial court ruling that Officer Cotten was qualified to testify as an expert in the field of accident reconstruction. T. 97. The thrust of Harness's argument is that although Officer Cotten was a certified accident reconstructionist at the time of trial, he had not yet been certified at the time of the accident. This honorable Court will not disturb a trial court's decision to admit expert testimony unless the trial court's determination was clearly erroneous. Cowart v. State, 910 So.2d 726, 729 (¶11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

MRE 702 governs the admissibility of expert testimony. According to the rule, the following conditions must be met before the expert's testimony is admissible.

First, the witness must be qualified by virtue of his or her knowledge, skill, experience or education. Second, the witness's scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge must assist the trier of fact in understanding or deciding a fact in issue. In addition, Rule 702 does not relax the traditional standards for determining that the witness is indeed qualified to speak an opinion on a matter within a purported field of knowledge.

Mississippi Transp. Com'n v. McLemore, 863 So.2d 31, 35 (¶7) (Miss. 2003) (internal citations and quotations omitted). A trial court properly admits expert testimony in accordance with MRE 702 when the trial court finds that the testimony is both relevant and reliable. Id. at 38 (¶16). In the present case, Harness does not and cannot contend that Officer Cotten's testimony was not relevant. Instead, he argues only that Officer Cotten's testimony was unreliable because Cotten, although a certified accident reconstruction expert at the time of trial, had not been certified at the time of the accident.

By the time of Harness's May 2007 trial, Cotten was a state certified accident reconstruction

expert who had reconstructed 72 accidents. T. 394. However, at the time of the August 2003 accident, Cotten, a fifteen year JPD officer, had only recently been assigned to accident reconstruction. T. 11. At the time of the transfer, Cotten had completed levels one and two of the required curriculum for accident reconstruction at the State Law Enforcement Officer's Training Academy, T. 11-12. Level 1 was an 80 hour course in which Cotten learned drag sled, drag factors, scale diagraming, and methods for collecting data at the scene of an automobile accident. T. 14, 34. Using the training that he had already received, Cotten collected data at the scene of the accident. T. 20. He marked physical evidence such as the fresh gouge marks and scrape marks on the road and the final resting spot of both vehicles. T. 20. Cotten returned to the scene during daylight hours to take measurements and calculate the drag factor of all applicable surfaces. T. 20. The fact that all of the gouge and scrape marks and other relevant evidence was found entirely in the southbound lane, combined with the final resting location of the two vehicles, led Cotten to conclude that the accident occurred in the southbound lane. T. 433. However, it was not until Cotten completed Level 3 of his accident reconstruction training in October 2003 that he applied the inline momentum formula, learned in Level 3, to the previously collected data to determine the speed of the vehicles at the time of the collision. T. 35. Cotten completed his accident reconstruction report in November 2003. T. 37. In his report, he concluded that the cause of the accident was due to Harness driving intoxicated on the wrong side of the road at a minimum speed of 67 mph. T. 37.

The trial court made extensive on-the-record findings before ruling that Cotten was qualified to testify as an expert, and that his proposed testimony was both relevant and reliable. T. 91-97. The court found that the evidence was unrebutted that Cotten possessed all the experience, education, and training necessary to conclude that the collision occurred in the southbound lane. T. 92-93. The court opined that the only real question concerning Cotten's qualification as an expert involved the

fact that he had not completed Level 3, in which he learned momentum and speed, at the time of the accident. T. 91. To this end, the court found the following.

Subsequent to this collision the witness completed levels two and three of his training as an accident reconstructionist and upon completion of that training and being certified by the State of Mississippi as an accident reconstructionist the Court is of the opinion that the witness possesses the necessary knowledge, training, and skill to testify as an accident reconstructionist in all areas within that field which would include conclusions or opinions concerning momentum and speed.

As of the time of collision the officer not possess that knowledge, training, or education. However, the Court is of the opinion that there is no reason that once obtaining that specialized knowledge, training, and education that the witness could not go back, as he did, and review the data collected during the course of his investigation and from that data, photographs, and other evidence, form a reliable opinion concerning momentum and speed and other matters that fall within the realm of being an accident reconstruction expert.

T. 94-95. The court went on to make other relevant findings before ruling that Cotten was qualified to testify as an expert in the field of accident reconstruction.

The trial court's decision to admit Cotten's expert testimony must be affirmed because Harness has failed to show on appeal that the trial court's ruling was clearly erroneous.

# II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED THE EXPERT'S DIAGRAM INTO EVIDENCE.

After photographing the scene and taking measurements, Officer Cotten sketched a diagram of the scene, including placement of the vehicles at final rest and the scrape and gouge marks on the road. T. 414. Several photographs of the scrape and gouge marks were admitted into evidence, as well as photographs of the involved vehicles. The purpose of the diagram was to show an overview of the scene of the accident. T. 423. For example, several of the photographs admitted into evidence apparently showed different marks on the road, and some of these photos apparently did not show the vehicles in relation to the marks.<sup>1</sup> T.425-427. The diagram helped the jury see the scene as whole, while the photographs depicted fragments of the scene.

Defense counsel objected to the admission of the diagram, arguing that a photograph in evidence illustrated the exact position of Harness's vehicle at final rest more accurately than the diagram. T. 415-16. The State agreed that the photographs better depicted the exact position of Harness's vehicle at final rest, and insisted that the diagram would be used only to support Cotten's testimony regarding the measurements he took at the scene and to aid the jury in picturing the scene as a whole after viewing photos of separate portions of the scene. T. 417-18. The court ruled that the diagram would be admitted so long as it was not the basis of Cotten's expert opinion. T. 420-21.

On appeal, Harness claims that the diagram was both irrelevant and confusing to the jury, in violation of MRE 401 and 403. The MRE 401 argument was not made at trial, and Harness should be barred from raising this new argument on appeal. Nevertheless, the relevance of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The appellant failed to include exhibits in the record. However, Cotten's testimony revealed that many of the photographs depicted only portions of the scene, while the diagram was a composite of the entire scene.

photograph is painfully obvious, as it supplemented and clarified Cotten's testimony as well as the photographs in evidence. A determination of such a diagram's evidentiary value is analogous to a determination of whether photographs of a deceased in a murder trial have evidentiary value. Photographs of a murder victim have evidentiary value if they (1) aid in describing the circumstances of the killing, (2) describe the location of the body and cause of death, or (3) supplement or clarify witness testimony. *Dampier v. State*, 973 So.2d 221, 230 (¶25) (Miss. 2008). Similarly, the diagram described the location of the vehicles in relation to gouge and scrape marks on the road, and supplemented Cotten's testimony.

Defense counsel's objection at trial could arguably be construed as a MRE 403 argument. However, no reasonable juror could have been confused by the diagram. Cotten explicitly testified that the diagram was meant only to show an overview of the entire scene, and that the photographs more accurately depicted the final rest of the vehicles. T. 423-424. Further, defense counsel fully cross-examined Cotton about the diagram. During cross-examination, Cotten acknowledged that exhibit 31, a photograph, accurately depicted the location of both vehicles after the collision and acknowledged that his diagram depicted the victim's truck facing a "somewhat a different direction" than the photograph. T. 466-67. Harness has failed to explain how the diagram was confusing. Further, he fails to show how the alleged confusion outweighs the probative value of the diagram. Harness's reliance Palmer v. Volkswagen of America, Inc., 905 So.2d 564, 583 ¶ 53. (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) is unpersuasive. In *Palmer*, this Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding an autopsy diagram because the pathologist's testimony thoroughly described the deceased's injuries. Id. A description of bodily injuries, which can be easily visualized by anyone who has ever seen a body, is an entirely different matter than a technical description of various aspects of accident reconstruction. Additionally, *Palmer* illustrates the highly

deferential abuse of discretion standard. Because Harness has failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the diagram into evidence, and because he makes no more than a bare assertion of prejudice, the trial court's ruling must be upheld.

# III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED HARNESS'S MOTIONS TO DISMISS AND SUPPRESS.

Harness claims that the trial court erred in overruling his motion to dismiss, or in the alternative, motion to suppress based on the crime lab's routine destruction of his blood sample. In analyzing Harness's blood, toxicologist John Stevenson took a portion of the blood sample and ran the blood-alcohol content test in duplicate. T. 107. Both samples showed Harness's BAC was over the legal limit. T. 107. However, the results fell outside the lab's 2% standard deviation range. T. 108. Accordingly, Stevenson ran the test in duplicate a second time with a different aliquot of the blood sample. T. 108. The results fell within the acceptable standard deviation and each sample again showed that Harness's BAC was above the legal limit. T. 108. Stevenson then submitted a certified report concluding that Harness's BAC was .11%. T. 109. The report included a notation of the lab's policy of destroying evidence within six months of submission unless notified otherwise. T. 109. The sample was not destroyed until almost a year after submission, but Stevenson testified that no one had contacted him to advise him to hold the sample before it was routinely destroyed, nor did anyone instruct him to destroy the sample. T. 111, 114.

Relying on *California v. Trombetta*, 467 U.S. 479 (1984), Harness claims that his right to due process was violated due to spoilation of the evidence. As noted in the appellant's brief, a two prong test must be met before reversal will be based on alleged spoliation of evidence. First, the "evidence must possess an exculpatory value that was apparent before the evidence was destroyed,." *Murray v. State*, 849 So.2d 1281, 1285 (¶16) (Miss. 2003) Second, the evidence must "be of such a nature that the defendant would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means." *Id.* Additionally, where the appellants claims that the spoilation resulted in a denial of due process, he must also show that the State destroyed the evidence in bad faith. *Id.* at

### 1285-86.

Harness has not met even the first prong of the test. The blood sample in question was twice analyzed in duplicate. The lowest result of the four aliquots showed a BAC of .1170, well over the legal limit. T. 108. Accordingly, there was nothing exculpatory about the blood sample. Although the inquiry ends here, the State would also note that Harness has failed to put forth even an iota of evidence to show that any state agent acted in bad faith with regard to the routine destruction of the blood sample.

# IV. EVIDENCE OF HARNESS'S BLOOD-ALCOHOL CONTENT WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.

Harness next claims that evidence of Harness's BAC should have been excluded because nurse Noreen Kenny did not specifically recall having drawn Harness's blood at the direction of Officer Cotten. Harness claims that allowing information from Exhibit 29, which is simply the blood sample request form, to be presented to the jury was a violation of MRE 901. It appears that Harness also claims that the blood sample itself was not properly authenticated. Rule 901of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence states, "The requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims." MRE 901(a). The rule goes on to state that authentication may be accomplished through testimony of a witness with knowledge that the matter is what the proponent claims. MRE 901(b)(1). Although Nurse Kenny could not specifically recall Harness as a patient from whom she drew blood, Cotten testified that he observed Kenny draw Harness's blood and place the vial into the blood sample kit he provided. T. 445, 455. In accordance with MRE 901(b)(1), the blood sample was properly authenticated. Additionally, Kenny acknowledged that it was her signature which appeared on the blood sample request form, which indicated to her that she did in fact draw Harness's blood. T. 359-61. Cotten also testified that he presented Kenny with the blood sample request form, and that she did in fact draw Harness's blood, T. 32-33. As such, the blood sample request form was also properly authenticated.

Contrary to Harness's assertion, the trial court did not instruct the State as to how to get information from exhibit 29 into the record. Appellant's brief at 20-21. Instead, after sending the jury out, the trial court ruled that the State had laid the proper foundation to present information from exhibit 29 under MRE 803(5). Harness argues that Kenny should not have been allowed to

read from the document because she repeatedly stated that she had no specific recollection of drawing Harness's blood. MRE 803(5) states,

The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule, even though the declarant is available as a witness:

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